S267522

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF)
CALIFORNIA) Case No.
) S267522
Plaintiff and Respondent,)
) (2d Crim.
v.) B305359)
)
MARLON FLORES,) (Sup. Ct. No.
) BA477784)
Defendant and Appellant,)
)

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGLES COUNTY THE HONORABLE MILDRED ESCOBEDO, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. FITZER Attorney at Law (State Bar No. 156904)

6285 East Spring Street, 276N Long Beach, California 90808 Telephone: (562) 429-4000 Roclwyr@aol.com

By appointment of the Supreme Court

INTRODUCTION

In order dated July 26, 2023, this Court asked the parties to brief the following issue: "Was defendant's detention supported by reasonable suspicion that he was engaged in criminal activity." As the dissenting opinion pointed out below, the answer is an empathic no. (*People v. Flores* (2021) 60 Cal.App.5th 978, 993 - 994 [Stratton, J., dissenting].)

Flores was not detained because police had a reasonable suspicion that he was engaged in criminal activity, he was detained because he is a young, male Hispanic who tried to avoid a police encounter. As of 2016, Hispanics made up 17.6 percent of the United States population but represented 23 percent of all searches and nearly 30 percent of all arrests. (Kenya Downs, *Why Aren't More People Talking About Latinos Killed by Police?*, PBS Newshour (July 14, 2016).)¹ Part of the reason for the over-representation of Hispanics in such police encounters is the racial profiling of Hispanic males.²

 $^{^{1}}$ / https://www.pbs.org/newshour/nation/black-men-werent-unarmed-people-killed-police-last-week

²/ That such racial profiling is commonplace is born out by the fact that the Legislature found in 2019 that 69% of those in the gang database were Latino; 25% were black and only 6% were white. (Assembly Bill 333, section 2.) It is also evident in a 2020 report of the California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation, which found that 68% of those in prison with gang enhancements are Hispanic. (2020 Annual Report And Recommendations, Committee on Revision of the Penal Code.)

Further impacting Flores' decision to try to hide from police is the fact that "Hispanic men are nearly twice as likely to be killed by police as white men." (Erwin Chermerinsky, Presumed Guilty, (2021), p. 18.) After all the police killings and instances of excessive force, Flores' act of attempting to avoid a police encounter by hiding behind his vehicle was perfectly rational and did not create a reasonable suspicion that he was presently involved in the commission of a crime. Further, when police approach, any "[m]ovement is incredibly dangerous for anyone because if police deem it sudden, and hence threatening, someone may end up shot." (People v. Flores, supra, 60 Cal.App.5th at p. 994 [Stratton, J., dissenting].) As one minority author recently put it:

"Police officers do risk their lives. But do *I* risk my life every time I pull over for an armed police officer? When I don't have my documents in my hand on the steering wheel and I comply and reach for them, an

_

³"As of June 9, [2020,] according to a database compiled by the Los Angeles Times, 465 Latinos had been killed by police since 2000 in L.A. County alone. Nationally, 910 Hispanics have been killed since 2015. It's worth noting that Latinos are often undercounted in criminal-justice data since many states report race but not ethnicity." (Julissa Rice, *It's Long Past Time We Recognized All the Latinos Killed at the Hands of Police*, Time Magazine, (July 21, 2020).)

⁴In *Terry v. Ohio*, "the Court greatly expanded the powers of police and contributed significantly to race-based policing." (Erwin Chermerinsky, <u>Presumed Guilty</u>, at p. 108.) "Racial profiling is the inevitable result of the degradation of Fourth Amendment protections." (Elie Mystal, Allow Me to Retort, (2022).)

officer can shoot me dead like one did Philando Castile. Compliance is not a lifesaver. When I comply completely, like Toledo did, I feel lucky to survive police encounters."⁵ (Ibram X. Kendi, *Compliance Will Not Save Me*, The Atlantic (April 19, 2021).)

Indeed, minorities such as Flores are "the canaries in the coal mine whose deaths, civil and literal, warn us that no one can breathe in this atmosphere." (*Utah v. Strieff* (2016) 579 U.S. 232, 254 [195 L.Ed.2d 400, 136 S.Ct. 2056, 2701] [Sotomayor, J. dissenting.) "As our broader cultural views on racial injustice evolve, courts and judges are compelled to acknowledge and confront the problem." (In re Edgerrin (2020) 57 Cal.App.5th 752, 771 [Dato, J., concurring], citing B.B. v. County of Los Angeles (2020) 10 Cal.5th 1, 31 [Liu, J., concurring] [citing "the troubling" racial dynamics that have resulted in state-sanctioned violence, including lethal violence, against Black people throughout our history to this very day"]; Utah v. Strieff, supra, U.S. 232, 254 [195 L. Ed. 2d 400, 136 S.Ct. 2056, 2070–2071] [Sotomayor, J., dissenting ["it is no secret that people of color are disproportionate victims of this type of scrutiny" in suspicionless stops].) Appellant urges this Court to keep such racial realities in mind as it considers the arguments which follow.

⁵Adam Toledo was a 13-year who was shot and killed by police in a predominantly Latino community on Chicago's West Side in 2021. Philando Castile, an African American man, was fatally shot during a traffic stop by police in the Minneapolis—Saint Paul metropolitan area in 2016. (Kendi, *Compliance Will Not Save Me*, The Atlantic.)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An information charged appellant, Marlon Flores, with the following two counts: (1) possession of a controlled substance with a firearm in violation of Health and Safety Code section 11370.1, subdivision (a); and (2) carrying a loaded, non-registered handgun in violation of Penal Code section 25850, subdivision (a). (C.T. pp. 30 - 31.)

Defense counsel filed a motion to suppress evidence pursuant to Penal Code section 1538.5, which the Superior Court denied because it found that the officers had reasonable suspicion to detain Flores. Appellant then waived his constitutional rights and pled no contest to carrying a loaded, non-registered handgun. The court suspended imposition of sentence and placed Flores on formal probation for three years. (*People v. Flores, supra,* 60 Cal.App.5th at p. 988) Pursuant to section 1538.5, subdivision (m), Flores filed a timely notice of appeal from the denial of the motion to suppress. (C.T. p. 63.)

On February 16, 2021, in a two-to-one vote, Division Eight of the Second Appellate District Court of Appeal issued a published opinion affirming the Superior Court's denial of Flores' motion to suppress. (*Id.*, at pp. 981, 989 - 990) Justice Stratton dissented. (*Id.*, at p. 990 [Stratton, J., dissenting].)

On April 21, 2021, this Court granted appellant's petition for review and "deferred pending consideration and disposition of a related issue in *People v. Tacardon*, S264219." On July 26, 2023, the Court directed the parties to brief the

following issue: "Was defendant's detention supported by reasonable suspicion that he was engaged in criminal activity."

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 10, 2019, at about 10:00 p.m., Los Angeles Gang Unit Officer Daniel Guy and his partner, Officer Marino, were patrolling in a known narcotics and gang area. They drove into a cul-de-sac they knew "to be a gang haunt" and in which taggers spray paint gang graffiti daily. One of the two officers had made a drug arrest at that location the night before. (*People v. Flores, supra*, 60 Cal.App.5th at p. 982.)

Upon entering the cul-de-sac, the officers observed Flores standing in the street behind a car that was parked against a red curb. As the officers approached, he ducked down behind the rear passenger panel of the automobile and "pretended" to tie his shoe. The officers parked behind the car and illuminated Flores with their spotlight. The video from Officer Guy's body cam showed that Flores did not immediately stand up when he was illuminated with the light. Rather, it took him twenty seconds to stand up as the officer approached on foot. (*Ibid.*)

The officers ordered him to stand and put his hands on his head. They then handcuffed and patted him down for "officer safety." During the patdown, Officer Guy observed a methamphetamine pipe in plain view inside the car. Guy then asked Flores for identification. Flores told him that his wallet was located inside the vehicle. The officer recovered the wallet himself. Inside, he found a folded up dollar bill secreting methamphetamine. This discovery caused the officers to search

the vehicle in its entirety. Upon doing so, they found a revolver inside a backpack. Prior to detaining Flores, the officers did not know the vehicle belonged to him. (*Ibid.*)

ARGUMENT

Police detained, and immediately patted down, Flores because he bent down behind his parked car in what officers believed to be an attempt to avoid an encounter with police. Imagine that – a male Hispanic in a bad neighborhood not wanting to have a consensual encounter with police. However, even in a high crime area, police need to have a reasonable suspicion that the particular person is engaged in criminal activity before they detain a citizen on the street. This is true even if that citizen takes legal measures to attempt to avoid a "consensual" police encounter. Here, the officers lacked the reasonable suspicion necessary to detain appellant,

A. General Fourth Amendment Principles.

On review from a motion to suppress made pursuant to Penal Code section 1538.5, the trial court's factual findings, "whether express or implied, must be upheld if they are supported by substantial evidence." (People v. Lawler (1973) 9 Cal.3d 156, 160; see also People v. Ramos (2004) 34 Cal.4th 494, 505; People v. Ayala (2000) 23 Cal.4th 225, 255.) Because the reasonableness of a search is an issue of law, however, an appellate court should conduct an independent review of the trial court's conclusion. (People v. Loewen (1983) 35 Cal.3d 117, 123; People v. Ramos, supra, 34 Cal.4th at p. 505; People v. Ayala, supra, 23 Cal.4th at p. 255.) If the search or seizure in question does not satisfy the constitutional standard of reasonableness

mandated by the Fourth Amendment, then the evidence seized should have been excluded. (*People v. Gallant* (1990) 225 Cal.App.3d 200, 206, citing *Mapp v. Ohio* (1961) 367 U.S. 643, 655 [6 L.Ed.2d 1081, 81 S.Ct. 1684].)

The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness. Courts are, therefore, required to evaluate a search "by assessing, on the one hand, the degree to which it intrudes upon an individual's privacy and, on the other, the degree to which it is needed for the promotion of legitimate governmental interests." (See Wyoming v. Houghton (1999) 526 U.S. 295, 300 [143 L.Ed.2d 408, 119 S.Ct. 1297].) A warrantless search is presumptively unreasonable, and therefore unconstitutional, unless it falls within one of the recognized exceptions to the warrant requirement. (Katz v. United States (1967) 389 U.S. 347, 357 [19 L.Ed.2d 576, 88 S.Ct. 507]; People v. Bravo (1987) 43 Cal.3d 600, 609.) The burden of proving that the search falls within one of these narrow exceptions rests with the People. (People v. Williams (1999) 20 Cal.4th 119, 127.)

B. Under People v. Tacardon, Appellant Was Detained The Moment The Officers Pulled Behind His Vehicle, Shone Their Spotlight On Him, Blocked His Exit Routes And Quickly Approached Him On Foot.

As in *People v. Tacardon* (2022) 14 Cal.5th 235, "[t]he outcome here [may well] turn[] on the distinction between a consensual encounter and a detention." (*Id.*, at p. 241.) Police officers are permitted to approach pedestrians and engage them

in consensual conversation. (People v. Brown (2015) 61 Cal.4th 968, 974.) "When an encounter is voluntary, no constitutionally protected right is implicated." (United States v. Summers (9th Cir. 2001) 268 F.3d 683, 686.) Conversely, a detention must be supported by reasonable suspicion. (Terry v. Ohio (1968) 392 U.S. 1, 21 [20 L.Ed.2d 889, 88 S.Ct. 1868].) According to the United States Supreme Court, "[A] person has been 'seized' within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment only if, in view of all of the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would have believed that he was not free to leave." (United States v. Mendenhall (1980) 446 U.S. 544 [64 L.Ed.2d 497, 100 S.Ct. 1870]; see also Florida v. Bostick (1991) 501 U.S. 429, 437 - 438 [115 L.Ed.2d 389, 111 S.Ct. 2382].)

The Supreme Court in *Mendenhall* concluded that race of the detainee is not "irrelevant" to the determination as to whether he was "seized" and, if so, at what point. (*United States v. Mendenhall, supra*, 446 U.S. at p. 558.) Several Federal Circuit Courts of Appeal have expressly found that the detainee's race is relevant to the resolution of Fourth Amendment claims. (See e.g., *United States v. Smith* (7th Cir. 2015) 794 F.3d 681, 687-88 [recognizing "relevance of race in everyday police encounters with citizens in Milwaukee and around the country [and] empirical data demonstrating the existence of racial profiling, police brutality, and other racial disparities in the criminal justice system" in determining whether a seizure had occurred]; *United States v. Washington* (9th Cir. 2007) 490 F.3d

765, 768 [recognizing that "Recent relations between police and the African–American community in Portland are also pertinent to our analysis" of whether a search was consensual."].) In this case, appellant asserts that his being Hispanic is relevant to the determination of whether there was reasonable suspicion to detain in this case.

In *Tacardon*, this Court opined that "use of a spotlight, standing alone, does not necessarily effect a detention." (*People v. Tacardon, supra*, 14 Cal.5th at p. 247.) Similarly, "an officer's mere approach does not constitute a seizure." (*Id.*, at p. 250, citing *Florida v. Bostick, supra*, 501 U.S. at p. 434; *Michigan v. Chesternut* (1988) 486 U.S. 567, 575 - 576 [100 L.Ed.2d 565, 108 S.Ct. 1975] 575–576; *INS v. Delgado* (1984) 466 U.S. 210, 216 [80 L.Ed.2d 247, 104 S.Ct. 1758]; *Florida v. Royer* (1983) 460 U.S. 491, 497 [75 L.Ed.2d 229, 103 S.Ct. 1319] (plur. opn. of White, J.).) Because the deputy in *Tacardon* "did not walk rapidly, pose any questions to Tacardon, or accuse him of anything. The deputy's nighttime approach, aided by a spotlight for illumination, did not, without more, effect a detention." (*People v. Tacardon, supra*, 14 Cal.5th at p. 251.) Something more is needed. (*Ibid.*)

The Court in *Tacardon* cited two Court of Appeal opinions where that something more was present. First, in *People v. Garry* (2007) 156 Cal.App.4th 1100, an officer on night patrol noticed the defendant standing near a parked car. The officer pulled within 35 feet, turned his spotlight on the defendant

and walked "briskly" toward him. The Court of Appeal found that anyone who is suddenly illuminated by a spotlight and faced with an armed police rushing toward them is going to believe he or she is "under compulsion of a direct command by the officer." (*Id.*, at p. 1112, quoting *People v. McKelvy* (1972) 23 Cal.App.3d 1027, 1034.) Second, in *People v. Kasrawi* (2021) 65 Cal.App.5th 751, review granted September 1, 2021, S270040, the Court of Appeal concluded that the officer detained the defendant by turning a spotlight on his vehicle; pulling behind and to the side of the defendant's vehicle; immediately approaching the defendant's car on foot with "sped and surety;" and then asking a pointed question and demanding an answer. (*Id.*, at pp. 759 - 760.)

In this case, "[t]he trial court apparently found the detention occurred after appellant delayed too long in rising to his full height. The majority agree[d] with the trial court." (People v. Flores, supra, 60 Cal.App.5th at p. 992 [Stratton, J., dissenting].) The dissent did not. (Ibid.) The dissenting opinion believed, however, that the detention occurred as follows:

"when the officers positioned their marked patrol car a little askew to and behind appellant's car, shined a 'huge' spotlight on him, and converged on him, one approaching him from behind (where the patrol car is parked) and the other approaching him on the sidewalk from the other side, having walked around the front of the car in the meantime. The car and an iron spiked fence blocked the other directions. Appellant had no 'escape route' even if he wanted to walk away." (*Ibid.*)

As in both *Garry* and *Kasrawi*, the officers did more than shine a spotlight on a person they were approaching for a casual, nighttime conversation. After parking their vehicle "a little askew" and behind Flores car, the officers "converged" on him from different directions. This was every bit as coercive as what occurred in *Garry* and *Kasrawi*. Further, unlike in those two cases, the officers positioned their vehicle and themselves so that appellant had no escape route. (People v. Flores, supra, 60 Cal.App.5th at p. 992 [Stratton, J. dissenting].) Blocking a person's means of exiting a scene on foot constitutes a detention. (See *United States v. Summers, supra*, 268 F.3d at p. 687.) Under these circumstances, any reasonable person in appellant's position, minority or not, would not have felt free to leave. (People v. Flores, supra, 60 Cal.App.5th at p. 992 [Stratton, J. dissenting.) Thus, contrary to the majority opinion below, this was a detention from the moment the officers began to converge on Flores, trapping him the cul-de-sac.

C. The Detention In This Case, Whenever It Occurred, Violated The General Principles Of Terry v. Ohio.

"Circumstances short of probable cause to make an arrest may justify a police officer stopping and briefly detaining a person for questioning or other limited investigation." (*In re Tony C.* (1978) 21 Cal.3d 888, 892.) According to the United States Superior Court, an officer may make a brief investigatory stop if he has knowledge of "specific and articulable facts [which cause]

him to suspect that (1) some activity relating to crime has taken place or is occurring or is about to occur, and (2) the person he intends to stop or detain is involved in that activity." (Terry v. Ohio, supra, 392 U.S. at p. 21.) Reasonable suspicion exists only where an officer is aware of specific, articulable facts which, when considered with objective and reasonable inferences, form a basis for particularized suspicion. (United States v. Cortez (1981) 449 U.S. 411, 418 [66 L.Ed.2d 621, 101 S.Ct. 690].) Whether there was reasonable suspicion is determined under the totality of the circumstances approach (*United States v. Sokolow* (1989) 490 U.S. 1,7 [104 L.Ed.2d 1, 109 S.Ct. 1581]; United States v. Arvizu (2002) 534 U.S. 266, 273 - 275 [151 L.Ed.2d 740, 172 S.Ct. 744]), and is based on the circumstances known to the officer at the moment the detention commenced. (See In re Jaime P. (2006) 40 Cal.4th 128, 133.) "A detention is reasonable under the Fourth Amendment when the detaining officer can point to specific articulable facts that, considered in light of the totality of the circumstances, provide some objective manifestation that the person detained may be involved in criminal activity." (People v. Souza (1994) 9 Cal.4th 224, 230.)

If the detention occurred before the officers ordered appellant to stand up, as the dissent maintains, then the officers lacked the reasonable suspicion necessary to detain Flores. As Justice Stratton pointed out in her dissenting opinion: "At the point when appellant was detained under the spotlight, all the officers knew was that he was standing next to a car in a high

crime neighborhood and had moved out of the street to the other side of the car and bent over when they believed he had seen their patrol car. These are not articulable facts supporting reasonable suspicion." (*People v. Flores, supra,* 60 Cal.App.5th at p. 992 [Stratton, J. dissenting].) That a minority was "acting shady" is not grounds for a detention. (*In re Edgerrin, supra,* 57 Cal.App.5th at p. 765.)

Even assuming arguendo, as the dissent did below, that "the detention occurred at the point when appellant did not immediately stand erect of his own accord[]" (*Id.*, at pp. 992 - 993), the officers still did not have the reasonable suspicion necessary to detain Flores. "The testifying officer could not articulate what criminal activity he suspected appellant was engaged in. He just thought it was suspicious when appellant moved from one side of the car to another and then bent over." (*Id.*, at p. 993.)

D. Flores' Act Of Bending Down Behind His Vehicle Did Not Give Police The Reasonable Suspicion Necessary To Detain Him.

The fact that appellant tried to hide from officers does not, by itself, create the reasonable suspicion necessary for a detention. It is uniformly acknowledged that citizens are free to avoid a consensual encounter with police.⁶ (Florida v. Royer

24

⁶ In theory the right to avoid a consensual police encounter applies to all citizens. In practice, however, it does not apply to many minorities. For example, "As is known from well-publicized

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