No. S267522

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

MARLON FLORES, Defendant and Appellant.

Second Appellate District, Division Eight, Case No. B305359 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BA477784 The Honorable Mildred Escobedo, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

Flores subsequently pleaded no contest to carrying a loaded, unregistered handgun (Health & Safety Code, § 25850, subd. (a)).

(RT 2-8.) The trial court suspended imposition of sentence and placed him on probation for three years. (RT 8.)

B. The Court of Appeal's decision

The Court of Appeal affirmed in a published opinion. It agreed with the trial court's express factual findings: that Flores saw police and tried to avoid contact with them by ducking down behind a parked car; that, during his ducking and crouching, Flores toyed with his feet and kept his hands out of sight despite the flashlight illumination and radio noise; and that, as the officers approached Flores "in an obvious way," Flores "persisted in his odd crouch position for 'far too long a period of time." (Opn. 13.) The court determined that the detention "began when the officer told Flores to stand and put his hands behind his head." (Opn. 13.) And it concluded that, although there may have been an innocent explanation for Flores's crouching without acknowledging the officers, "in combination with the other factors, a reasonable officer had a reasonable basis for investigating further to resolve this ambiguity, because nervous and evasive behavior is a pertinent factor in determining whether suspicion is reasonable." (Opn. 14.)

One justice dissented, cautioning that the majority's holding threatened to "allow police detention based on commonplace conduct subject to interpretation." (Dis. Opn. 1.) In the dissent's view, Flores was detained when "the officers positioned their marked patrol car a little askew to and behind Flores's car, shined a 'huge' spotlight on him, and converged on him" from opposite sides. (Dis. Opn. 4.) The dissent noted that Flores was

hemmed in at that point by a car and an "iron spiked" fence, with "no escape route." (Dis. Opn. 4.) Given that the detention occurred before Flores bent down for "too long" despite the officers' orders for him to stand, the dissent determined that the two remaining considerations—"that he was standing next to a car in a high crime neighborhood and had moved out of the street to the other side of the car and bent over when [the officers] believed he had seen their patrol car"-did not amount to reasonable suspicion for a detention. (Dis. Opn. 4.) The dissent further concluded that, even under the majority's view that the detention occurred later, the officers still lacked reasonable suspicion because the testifying officer could not articulate what criminal activity he suspected Flores was engaged in. (Dis. Opn. 5.) The dissent also disagreed with the trial court's findings that Flores took too long to stand up and that Flores was trying to avoid police contact by ducking, given that people have a right to avoid police conduct by simply going about their business. (Dis. Opn. 5-7.)

ARGUMENT

FLORES WAS NOT DETAINED UNTIL HE COMPLIED WITH OFFICERS' ORDERS TO STAND, AND HIS EVASIVE AND UNUSUAL BEHAVIOR IN A HIGH-CRIME AREA SUPPLIED REASONABLE SUSPICION JUSTIFYING THE DETENTION

Flores argues that he was detained once officers approached him on foot and that his movement from one side of the car to the other and his presence in a high crime area were insufficient to support the detention. (OBM 18-30.) Flores overlooks that a detention does not occur until an individual submits to a law enforcement officer's show of authority. Here, that did not occur until Flores finally stood up after several orders to do so. And under longstanding United States Supreme Court precedent, an individual's presence in a high crime area at night, coupled with evasive behavior, can constitute reasonable suspicion. The circumstances of the encounter here supported a reasonable belief that Flores was involved in the sale or use of narcotics, justifying his detention at the time he submitted to the officers' authority.

A. Legal framework

Where a search or seizure is unlawful, the evidence derived from it will ordinarily be excluded from a later criminal prosecution in order to deter unlawful police conduct. (*People v.* Macabeo (2016) 1 Cal.5th 1206, 1220.) In California criminal proceedings, evidence may be suppressed on grounds of unlawful search or seizure only when its admission would violate the federal Constitution's Fourth Amendment, and not where there has been a violation of state law only. (See In re Lance W. (1985) 37 Cal.3d 873, 886-887; see also *California v. Greenwood* (1988) 486 U.S. 35, 44-45; People v. Glaser (1995) 11 Cal.4th 354, 363.) On appeal from a motion to suppress evidence, the reviewing court will accept the trial court's factual findings—express or implied—when supported by substantial evidence. (People v. Silveria and Travis (2020) 10 Cal.5th 195, 232.) The reviewing court will then independently decide whether the search or seizure was reasonable under the Fourth Amendment. (Id. at p. 232.)

In this case, Flores contends that the police violated the Fourth Amendment because they unlawfully detained him; he does not challenge the officers' subsequent conduct in patting him down and searching his car or arresting him. The outcome here thus turns on when the encounter between police and Flores became a detention for Fourth Amendment purposes and whether reasonable suspicion to detain Flores existed at the point of detention.

1. The Fourth Amendment permits consensual encounters between law enforcement officers and the public

Under the Fourth Amendment, consensual encounters are interactions between law enforcement officers and the public in which a person's liberty has not been restrained and the person may terminate the encounter at any time. (*In re Manuel G.* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 805, 821; *People v. Brown* (2015) 61 Cal.4th 968, 974.) Such an encounter does not constitute a seizure and therefore need not be justified by a showing that an individual has committed, or is about to commit, a crime. (*Manuel G.*, at p. 821.)

Consensual encounters are fundamental to "a wide variety of legitimate law enforcement practices" (United States v. Mendenhall (1980) 446 U.S. 544, 554 (lead opn. of Stewart, J.)), "some of which are wholly unrelated to a desire to prosecute for crime" (Terry v. Ohio (1968) 392 U.S. 1, 13). For example, consensual encounters allow officers to approach and help stranded motorists, lost children, disoriented or injured civilians, or civilians otherwise in distress in public places. As the high court has held, "law enforcement officers do not violate the Fourth Amendment by merely approaching an individual on the street or in another public place, by asking him if he is willing to answer some questions, by putting questions to him if the person is willing to listen, or by offering in evidence in a criminal prosecution his voluntary answers to such questions." (*Florida v. Royer* (1983) 460 U.S. 491, 497 (lead opn. of White, J.); accord, *Florida v. Bostick* (1991) 501 U.S. 429, 434; see also *People v. Tacardon* (2022) 14 Cal.5th 235, 241 ["An officer may approach a person in a public place and ask if the person is willing to answer questions"].)

2. A detention occurs when a law enforcement officer makes a show of authority over a person and the person submits to the show of authority

An investigatory detention is a seizure for Fourth Amendment purposes and can occur without physical force. (*California v. Hodari D.* (1991) 499 U.S. 621, 626-627.) Such a detention is effected when: (1) an officer, through a "show of authority, has in some way restrained the liberty of a citizen," so that "in view of all of the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would have believed that he was not free to leave or otherwise terminate the encounter"; and (2) "the person actually submits to the show of authority." (*Brown, supra,* 61 Cal.4th at p. 974, some internal quotation marks and punctuation omitted.) Where a person does not submit to the show of authority, no Fourth Amendment seizure has occurred; the seizure does not occur until actual submission. (See *Hodari D.*, at pp. 626-627.)

There is no bright-line rule for when a police-civilian interaction progresses beyond a consensual encounter under the free-to-leave standard. (See Michigan v. Chesternut (1988) 486 U.S. 567, 572.) Rather, the assessment is made by looking at the totality of the circumstances. (*Tacardon*, supra, 14 Cal.5th at p. 241). The totality-of-the-circumstances test "assesses the coercive effect of police conduct as a whole, rather than emphasizing particular details of that conduct in isolation." (Manuel G., supra, 16 Cal.4th at p. 821.) As this Court has recognized, relevant circumstances may include "the presence of multiple officers, an officer's display of a weapon, the use of siren or overhead emergency lights, physically touching the person, the use of a patrol car to block movement, or the use of language or of a tone of voice indicating that compliance with the officer's request is compelled." (Tacardon, at pp. 241-242, internal citations omitted.) Other relevant factors may include the time and location of the contact and whether the officer accuses the individual of a crime, retains an individual's identification, or uses threatening or intimidating behavior. (See, e.g., United States v. Drayton (2002) 536 U.S. 194, 204; People v. Linn (2015) 241 Cal.App.4th 46, 58.)

The inquiry, moreover, is an objective one. (*Chesternut*, supra, 486 U.S. at p. 574.) This means that the "officer's uncommunicated state of mind and the individual citizen's subjective belief are irrelevant in assessing whether a seizure triggering Fourth Amendment scrutiny has occurred." (*Manuel G., supra*, 16 Cal.4th at p. 821; accord, *Brigham City*,

Utah v. Stuart (2006) 547 U.S. 398, 404-405.) An objective inquiry ensures "consistent application from one police encounter to the next" and allows "the police to determine in advance whether the conduct contemplated will implicate the Fourth Amendment." (*Chesternut*, at p. 574.)

Further, the objective "reasonable person test presupposes an *innocent* person"—not a reasonable criminal. (Bostick, supra, 501 U.S. at p. 438.) And although an officer's approaching an individual might convey a level of official interest in the person, that does not mean that a reasonable, innocent person would not feel free to leave or terminate the encounter. (Id. at pp. 434-435.) "People targeted for police questioning rightly might believe themselves the object of official scrutiny. Such directed scrutiny, however, is not a detention." (People v. Chamagua (2019) 33 Cal.App.5th 925, 929; People v. Perez (1989) 211 Cal.App.3d 1492, 1496; see also *People v. Franklin* (1987) 192 Cal.App.3d 935, 940.) Relatedly, the fact that many civilians will choose to stay and engage with a police officer does not mean that a reasonable, innocent person would not feel free to terminate the encounter. "While most citizens will respond to a police request, the fact that people do so, and do so without being told they are free not to respond, hardly eliminates the consensual nature of the response." (INS v. Delgado (1984) 466 U.S. 210, 216.)

3. A detention complies with the Fourth Amendment when supported by reasonable suspicion of criminal activity

A brief investigative detention is reasonable, and therefore lawful under the Fourth Amendment, when supported by reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. (People v. Celis (2004) 33 Cal.4th 667, 674; see also Terry, supra, 392 U.S. at pp. 6-7; People v. Fayed (2020) 9 Cal.5th 147, 182 [essential question in assessing constitutionality of search or seizure under Fourth Amendment is reasonableness].) Reasonable suspicion exists when a law enforcement officer has "a particularized and objective basis for suspecting the particular person stopped of criminal activity." (Brown, supra, 61 Cal.4th at p. 981, citations and internal quotation marks omitted.) Like the free-to-leave test, reasonable suspicion is measured objectively, "based on the facts and circumstances known to the officer but without regard to the officer's subjective state of mind." (People v. Flores (2019) 38 Cal.App.5th 617, 626.) The possibility of an innocent explanation does not undermine reasonable suspicion; what is required are "specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant th[e] intrusion." (Id. at p. 986.) Although a mere hunch does not amount to reasonable suspicion, the standard requires "considerably less than [the] proof of wrongdoing by a preponderance of the evidence" that is necessary to establish probable cause for an arrest. (United States v. Sokolow (1989) 490 U.S. 1, 7.) While probable cause to arrest requires a "fair probability" or a "substantial chance" of criminal activity, reasonable suspicion requires only a "moderate chance." (Safford Unified School District v. Redding (2009) 557 U.S. 364, 371.)

B. Flores was not detained until he complied with the officers' orders to stand up

It is not in dispute that Flores was detained—the question is when he was detained. Flores contends he was detained the moment the officers approached him on foot. (OBM 18-22.) But Flores misses a critical part of the detention analysis: A person faced with a show of authority from police is not detained until they actually submit to the show of authority. (*Hodari D., supra*, 499 U.S. at p. 626.) In this case, that occurred when Flores finally stood up in response to the officers' repeated commands.²

The following facts bear on the threshold question of when a reasonable person would no longer have felt free to leave the encounter. Flores was standing in the street, next to the rear driver's side panel of the parked Nissan, when the officers pulled into the cul-de-sac. (Supp. RT A3.) Upon seeing the officers, Flores moved from the driver's side of the car to the rear passenger's side panel, which was next to the sidewalk. (Supp. RT A3, A7-A8, A12-A13.) The officers parked their patrol car perpendicular to and behind the Nissan. (Def. Exh. A at 00:06.) Approximately 45 seconds later, the officers got out of the patrol car and Officer Marino pointed his flashlight at Flores,

² Flores's submission to the officers' show of authority was not a focus of the parties' arguments in either of the courts below. Consideration of this part of the Fourth Amendment analysis is appropriate here, however, because "the factual basis for the theory is fully set forth in the record." (*People v. Robles* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 789, 800-801, fn. 7.)

illuminating him. (Def. Exh. A at 00:50-00:56.) The officers walked toward Flores from different sides, one in front of him and one from behind (at that point, the Nissan was to Flores's left, and a metal fence was to his right). (Def. Exh. A at 00:55-1:00, 1:10-1:11.) One officer asked Flores to "post up." (Def. Exh. A at 1:00-1:05.) Almost 10 seconds later, the request was repeated. (Def. Exh. A at 1:12-1:13.) A moment after that, an officer told Flores to "hurry up." (Def. Exh. A at 1:14-1:15.) Flores stood up, and an officer told Flores to put his hands behind his head. Flores complied and was handcuffed. (Def. Exh. A. 1:16-1:30.)³

³ The bodycam recording that was admitted at the suppression hearing appears to show reflections of possible flashing emergency lights during the encounter. (See Def. Exh. A at 00:52-1:05, 1:28-1:31, 1:55-2:03.) It is unclear when those lights were activated or what their source was. No testimony was given at the hearing about the use of emergency lights, and Flores has made no argument—either in the courts below or in his opening brief here—that this was a relevant factor in the detention. Because the facts on this point are undeveloped, any such argument based on them is forfeited. (People v. Williams (1999) 20 Cal.4th 119, 129 [when a defendant moves to suppress pursuant to section 1538.5, he "must inform the prosecution and the court of the specific basis for [his] motion" or risk forfeiting the issue on appeal]; accord, *Silveria*, *supra*, 10 Cal.5th at pp. 235-236 [defendant's suppression motion and argument on the motion failed to "inform the prosecution of the need to adduce greater detail" as to a fact he contended was relevant for the first time on appeal; thus, the issue was forfeited].) If the argument is not forfeited, however, and to the extent that the outcome of the detention analysis may depend on additional facts regarding the possible use of emergency lights, remand would be appropriate for further development of the record. (See Tacardon, supra, 14 (continued...)

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